Transcription of Paris Sojourn Diary 
(February-September, 1979)

Black – written by Melinda

Blue – written by Sid

Red – Clarifications/amplifications/comments made by Sid during transcription

[Jan 1 – Jan 31

Sid came to Paris around Jan 1 and, with Louis’ help (a former foreign exchange student we had hosted in Clearwater one summer), selected an apartment for the family in the heart of the 14th arrondissement, with no Americans anywhere nearby.]
Feb 1 – Feb 14

Stephen, David, and I arrived on the morning of Thursday, Feb 1 via National Airlines. It took a few days to get our sleeping schedule straightened out. The first Saturday, Feb 3, we went by Metro to Trocadero to the Palais de Chaillot and crossed Pont d’Iena to the Eiffel Tower. We walked under the tower into the Parc du Champs-de-Mir. The children loved the playground there. We then took a Metro home. Both of the boys enjoyed the Metro rides – Stephen kept track of the stations and would tell us how many more stops and when to get off. David was awed by it all and often asked for more “choo-choo train” rides. On Saturday, the 10th, I went to the Louvre. We started out on our first Sunday going to the American Church. Stephen enjoyed meeting new friends. The weather was fairly miserable most of this period (cold, rainy, a little snow) so we didn’t get a chance to get out much, plus all of the schools were out on winter ski vacations so we couldn’t enroll the boys in schools.

Thursday, February 15th
David’s first day at Lennen Bilingual Nursery School 9:00-11:45 Monday-Friday at the American Church. While David was at school Stephen and I went to the Galeries Lafayette Department Store – had hot cocoa and a croissant at the café.
Friday, February 16th
After taking David to school, Stephen and I spent the morning at Le Printemps Department Store.

Saturday, February 17th
The family went to Georges Pompidou Cultural Center (the Beaubourg) for the morning – very modern. Stephen and Daddy saw the train exhibit.

Sunday, February 18th
The family went to Sunday School and church at the American Church at Quai d’Orsay. After church, we walked to Les Invalides, the Tomb of Napoleon, Church of the Dome, and Church of St. Louis. We also visited the Army Museum at Les Invalides (originally for wounded Army veterans).

Monday, February 19th
Stephen’s 6th birthday also his first day at school at Marymount (72 Bd de la Saussage, Neuilly sur Seine 92200). Daddy took Stephen to school via Metro and bus for enrollment, as I took David to school. Mommy and David rode home on Stephen’s school bus (about 50 min trip). Stephen has French class every day. He was placed in first grade. We had cake and presents after dinner.

Tuesday, February 20th
I walked from Place de l’Opera to Place Vendome to Rue de Rivoli, pricing perfumes. I visited Baccarat Crystal on Rue de Paradis.

Wednesday, February 21st
I bought perfume on Rue de Rivoli. I went to the Musée de Jeu de Paume of Impressionists (Manet, Degas, Gaugin, Van Gogh, Renoir, Monet). I went to American Embassy.

Thursday, February 22
I went to the dentist at the American Hospital at Neuilly sur Seine (a filling had fallen out). I walked the Champs Elysee from Rond Point George V passing the Lido.

Friday, February 23

I walked from the Rond Point des Champs Elysees to Rue de Faubourg-St. Honore to Place de la Concorde.

Saturday, February 24

The family went to Jardin D’Acclimation and saw animals (bears, ducks, rooster, birds, bunnies, boars, goat, yak, lambs, fox) and played on the playground equipment. Stephen tells about his first week at school:
“I had gym on Wednesday and Friday. I played soccer and I played on the balance beam and the saddle horse and parallel bars. I had French class every day. I can say ‘Bonjour, je m’appelle Stephen Heidt, je ne sais pas, dans la maison, Fevrier, Merci, s’il vous plait, au revoir’. I read out of the Rainbow books and in Arithmetic workbook every day. I had music and learned from Sound of Music (‘These are a few of my favorite things’) We filled little plastic cups with water in science and see bumps on the water. I went to the library and checked out 2 books (Barbar’s Kingdom and Santa Mouse).”
Saturday night we had a babysitter (Florence LeFliere) while Daddy and Mommy went to the Lido Cabaret show – Excellent!- ice skating, waterfalls, helicopters – very extravagant.

Sunday, February 25th
The family went to Sunday School and church at American Church. Afterwards we walked to the Grand Palais to the Palais de la Decouverte (a museum dedicated to the sciences). Afterwards we had lunch at MacDonalds on the Champs Elysee. We then went to the Rodin Museum (The Thinker).
Monday, February 26th
After taking David to school, I took the metro to Sacre-Coeur and climbed the many steps to the entrance. I walked to Place du Tertre where many artists paint and show their works. I walked down to Place Pigalle and Place Blanche (where Moulin Rouge is) and onto Place de Clichy. I then took the metro to Arc de Triomphe before going back to pick up David – for lunch and nap at home – then to pick up Stephen from school (a clear day for picture taking)

Tuesday, February 27th
After taking David to school (via Metro and bus) I went to Champs Elysees – Place Clemenceau and walked down to Concorde. I took Metro to Palais Royal and walked by Louvre and Arc de Triomphe du Carrousel) (From this vantage you could see the obelisk at Concorde bisecting the Arc de Triomphe at Etoiles). I then took a bus to Hotel de Ville and walked to Centre Pompidou then back over Pont d’Arcole to Ile de la Cité to Notre Dame. I then crossed Pont St. Louis to Ile St. Louis then crossed Pont Louis Philippe back to Hotel de Ville. I then took a bus back to the American Church to pick up David (on Quai d’Orsay in Sand Lot)
Wednesday, February 28th
After taking David to school, I rode the metro to Pont de Sevres and I went to Sevre Porcelain Plant and Museum. Tours of the factory – only in the afternoons. I then went by metro to St. Termain ses Pres and walked down Rue Dauphine to the Seine and then down the Seine to Place St. Michael. I then took bus back to church to pick up David.

Thursday, March 1st
I went to Baccarat Crystal showroom on Rue du Paradis and bought some crystal stemware. I took the metro home and then returned to pick up David at school. Stephen cam home from school sick today and Daddy picked him up and to him to the doctor at the American Hospital.

Friday, March 2nd
After taking David to school, I rode the bus to St. Germain des Pres and walked Rue Bonaparte to the Seine then to Pont Neuf then to Samartaine Department Store. I took the Metro to St. Philippe Roule to a dress shop on La Boetie and bought two pairs of slacks. I then walked Rue Faubourg-St. Honore to Rue d-Anjou to another shop and bought a skirt and blouse set and another blouse (Nina Ricci). That evening, Florence babysat again and Sid and I went to the Moulin Rouge show (dances, singers, good individual acts(man with chicken in pockets) Also the Can-Can as part of the show.)

Saturday, March 3rd
This morning we went  to the Marché aux Puces (Flea Market) at the Porte de Clignancourt. It was a large area with semi-permanent stalls selling many things – some very expensive items (suits, furs, etc.) That afternoon we went to the Catacombs – bones and skulls in symmetrical designs of millions of Parisians – quite a sight! The bodies were dug up when the cemeteries were needed for other purposes. We then went to Luxembourg Gardens and the playground they have there. The children enjoyed the many rides and equipment there.
Sunday, March 4th
A rainy day – we left for Sunday School as usual, only to find that our bus connection was not working today (men were pruning trees there) so we had to walk to another bus stop in the rain. After church we walked over to Rond Point and took the metro to Place des Vosges and saw Victor Hugo’s home. Then we went to the Museé Carnavalet which is devoted to the history of Paris – many photos of how things looked in the past. From there we walked across the Ile St. Louis to the Ile de la Cite. We went into Notre Dame then Sainte Chapelle (lovely stained glass windows) and then to the Conciergeries (a palace turned prison during the French Revolution).
Monday, March 5th
A sunny day after our excursions in the rain yesterday. After taking, David to school, I took the Metro to Rue Mouffetrad and walked to Ecole Polytechnique, Pantheon, and Sorbonne. Then I went to Luxembourg Gardens and took RER to Chatelet and then a metro to the Bastille. Then I took a metro to Marais area to Hotel Sully (information center there) then I walked to Place des Vosges and took a metro back to David’s school.
Tuesday, March 6th
After taking David to school, I went to check out the Folies Bergere, the Opera, and the Comedie Francaise. I went to the gardens of the Palais Royal, but it was roped off due to “diseased trees”. I then went to the Madeline Church – just as I entered the front for photos, they started a mass. Then I took bus 72 back to Pont Alma and bus 63 to the church to pick up David. David and I went to the park at Square Necker while I did a load of wash at the Laundromat (10.5FF/5 kilo load). We then went to pick up Stephen at his new bus stop (closer to the apartment Le Courbe + Bloumet) and met him half-way home as the bus was early.
Wednesday, March 7th
This morning I <took the> bus 72 to Pont Neuf and walked across Ile de la Cite to Square du Vert Galant (a small park at the tip of the ile). Then I walked to Notre Dame again and then to Monument to the 200,000 who died in concentration camps but it was closed for work (it was located at the other tip of the ile in the Square de l’Ile de France). I then went back to Notre Dame to climb the Tower. I climbed the North Tower (387 steps then crossed over to the South Tower and viewed the grand 15 ton bell. It had the effect of crystal when rubbed gently around the edge – it makes the bell sound. The bell only rings on festive occasions, the next being Easter and can be heard for 6 miles around. It was a fairly clear day – Sacre Coeur looked especially majestic in the long range. I then walked to the old Les Halles area – now a vast area undergoing construction – the market has moved to the outskirts of town.
Thursday, March 8th
Today I went to the churches St. Germain des Pres and St. Surplice. Afterwards I went to the Pantheon – intended as a church but now in crypt underneath for such as Voltaire Rousseau Hugo.

Friday, March 9th
Today I went to the Cluny Museum – built atop ruins of Roman baths – lovely tapestries – many articles of the Middle Ages. Friday night – Follies Bergere

Saturday, March 10th
Family went bright + early to Salon d’Agriculture – a combination State Fair and food-tasting extravaganza with cows, pigs, horses, etc. for Stephen and David and wine/cheese/etc. tasting for us of foods from all over Europe. We were given free passes at the gate and left before the crowds really arrived. Rested up that afternoon for dinner at Louis’s apartment – Very interesting. He had invited a few other people (he apologized for not being able to get any dukes or princes). Dinner was at 10:00 – we left right after dinner (at 12:30!). [We had to catch the last metro to get home to the babysitter]
Sunday, March 11th

R+R day – misty rain, so we stayed home since Melinda and Stephen were trying to catch colds.

Monday, March 12th
Melinda a little under the weather with a flu bug. Stephen stayed home from school, too, but he seemed to be OK by afternoon. Nothing slows David down (He’s too busy to be sick).

Tuesday-Thursday, March 13th  - 15th 
Melinda mostly in bed with the flu. Kids going to school as normal. Neither one sick (David could use something to slow him down!), but the long school day tires Stephen out, especially since he is working (at his own request) at home in the evening to make up previous arithmetic workbook exercises the rest of the class already did.

Friday, March 16th
Left Paris in a driving snow to drive to Brussels. Stopped at Chantilly chateau, but we were too early to go in and the snow discouraged waiting around. Drove on to Ghent (Belgium) and walked around the heart of the old city a little (old buildings 12th – 16th century along a canal) and visited the chateau/fort of the counts of Flanders (1180), but the bitter cold wind kept us from doing too much. Then on to Brussels and the Hilton, where Stephen and David had their own adjoining room. Very posh. Rode the trolley to a restaurant off the “Grand Place” for supper.

Saturday, March 17th
Drove to Brugge, the most completely restored town in Europe. Still cold but sunny and not too windy. Took a boat ride on the canal, went through some art museums and generally took in the atmosphere. Drove further north to see the ocean/beaches and adjoining small towns. Then back to Brussels and the site of the battle of Waterloo. A light rain had started, so we did not climb the “butte de lion”, but we went into a cyclorama exhibit on the spot. Then back to the Hilton. Went window-shopping after supper.
Sunday, March 18th
Walked around Brussels (Flea Market, Grand Place, Museum of Ancient Art (as big as the Louvre), musical instrument museum). Then drove around to see the Mannekin Pis and Atomium (outside of town). Got to the airport in plenty of time, caught our flight home, taxi to apartment and collapsed – a busy weekend!

Monday, March 19th
Business as usual. Got organized after the rush of the weekend.

Tuesday-Friday, March 20-23

Usual routine – David had a little bug on Wednesday and Melinda had to get him from nursery school.

Saturday, March 24

Stephen, David, and Sid went to the zoo at Vincennes in the morning. Nice layout with lots of animals – even a 10 story mountain for the mountain goats. In the afternoon, Sid, Melinda, and David went to the American Church Flea Market, which wasn’t worth the trip and bought David a stroller at INNO (department store). The whole family walked down to Square Lambert to break in the stroller (Melinda discovered a new laundromat).

Sunday, March 25

Church in the morning. While kids took a nap, Sid went to Cluny and Pantheon. In the evening, Sid and Melinda saw ‘Barber of Seville’ (Beaumarchais) at Comedie Francais. Sat in the highest balcony, but could see and hear good. Beautiful interior. 

Monday-Tuesday, March 26-27

Usual weekday routine. Started to gather material for vacation. Plan is to take 2 nine-day trips (April 28-May 6 + May 18-27)

Wednesday March 28

After taking David to school, Sid, Melinda and Stephen went to Marymount school for teacher conference (Stephen had the day off from school) We talked with his home base teacher Sister de la Salle. She was very pleased with Stephen’s adaptation to the class and said he had been working very hard to catch up with the class and had already passed many of them. She said he was a very self-motivated student. We also talked to the French teacher and the gym teacher.

Thursday, March 29

Stephen stayed home from school with his headache – he worked on his Phonics Book most of the day when he was awake. David went to school as usual and Mommy went shopping in the morning while Stephen napped.
Friday, March 30

Stephen was feeling fine and returned to school. I went shopping at INNO while David was in school and cam home and cleaned the apartment. (We borrowed the concierge’s vacuum cleaner last night). Tonight Sid and I went to the movies and saw “A Wedding – Un Marriage” - in subtitles. We enjoyed the movie very much in the area of St. Michel (a young people’s section of town)
Saturday, March 31

In the morning we went to the Square St. Lambert Park by way of the Laundromat. I planned to put in wash and meet family there, but I overloaded the machine and had to reload a second one and by this time family had returned saying Park still had puddles from yesterday’s rain. In the afternoon, Sid, David, and I went to L’Egout de Paris – sewers of Paris. We had to wait an hour to get in and when we finally got in we skipped the movie explaining the sewers and went directly to the short walking tour.

Sunday, April 1st
Daylight savings time started today – but we still made it to Sunday School and church on time. We met a lady from West Virginia near Beckley – small world! Stephen and Daddy played an April Fool’s trick on Mommy – they said they bought a baby chick, but it turned out to be a chocolate one. Stephen got to use his “carte d’orange” today for the first time. He was so proud to have the orange card to use (unlimited use on bus and metro for 1 month 57 FF). (We bought him one this month because with a 2 week vacation for Easter we plan to use it often for parks, etc.) We had been buying a “carnet” of tickets (booklet of 10) for 12.50 FF
Sunday afternoon Daddy and Stephen went looking for dinosaurs at the Jardin de Plantes/Museum of Natural History. We saw the exhibit “3,000,000 Years of Human Adventure and then spent a fascinating time in the Paleontology building – 3 floors of skeletons of every conceivable animal, past and present. Stephen was really impressed (so was I, for that matter) by the several dinosaur skeletons which required a 2 story tall space for display. I was amazed at how much Stephen already knew about dinosaurs.
Monday April 2

Stephen had a new bus driver going to school that wouldn’t make our stop so Daddy took him via metro to Porte Maillet and put him on city bus #82 by himself. Stephen thought that was a very responsible thing for him to get to do. David went to school (He took 3 hard boiled eggs to decorate for Easter.) I went shopping at INNO.

Tuesday April 3

Stephen’s school bus missed again (Daddy called the school to report this time). This time Daddy put Stephen on bus #82 at a stop near Troccadero (an earlier stop). Stephen did a very responsible job of it again! David went to school as usual – I went shopping at meat market and fruit market on LeCourbe near the apartment. 

Wednesday April 4

Stephen’s bus missed again! Daddy put Stephen on bus #82 at Montparnasse (not far from home) so he had a very long ride on the bus, but did fine. David went to school as usual. I went tracking down Museum passes for Italy – (starting at Alitalia office – everyone kept sending me somewhere else – at 4th stop I finally found them.) Stephen came home early (only ½ day today) as teacher’s had ½ day workday.
Thursday April 5

Stephen’s bus came today – no problem. After taking David to school, I went looking for ANIC (American National Interest Commissary) I had read they had all the products one finds in the U.S. – a bad disappointment – a very small selection and all prices about three times more expensive – so I headed on back to INNO and more reasonable prices.

Friday April 6

Stephen’s bus missed again! David went to school and I went to the British Tourist Office to get information on a possible trip to London ($50 by train and hovercraft.) I then went to another department store – Aux Trois Quartiers. I still had time before picking up David, so I had a cup of coffee and read the material on London. David brought home his Easter eggs he had decorated.

Saturday April 7

The first beautiful Sat. in a long time (albeit still cold – probably about 40° at 8:00) but nobody felt like they were hitting on all cylinders. The persistent drizzle of the last several weeks and the continuing cold busy fighting sniffles, sore throats, etc. But spring must be near. The trees and flowers are starting to come out a little. All we need is some warm weather (above 50°). The hot water heater in the bathroom went on strike this morning. So we have to import hot water from the kitchen. This morning, Stephen, David, and Daddy went to see Sacre Coeur and rode the funicular up to the look-out in front of the church. This afternoon the whole family went to the park, which was very nice. Mom splurged and bought ice cream on the way home. After supper, Daddy took David up to the back of the Montparnasse train station to watch the trains, and David pitched a fit when we left. It now stays light until 9:00 so we may do some more after-supper strolls (when it warms up!)
Sunday April 8 (Palm Sunday)

Church in the AM, then lunch and a general rest period. Not enough sun to justify going somewhere to take pictures, so Daddy, Stephen, and David rode the metro to the Vaugirard park (1 stop). Stephen played Frisbee/soccer with some little French boys. Afterwards we walked up to the train station overpass and watched the trains until after 6. After supper, Stephen built a desert oasis (based on the palm branch he made at Sunday school) and he and David did their repertoire of animal imitations (camels, hippos, flamingos, etc.)

Monday April 9
This is the first day of the boy’s Spring Vacation. I took them via metro to Parc Monceau – a lovely park. The daffodils were blooming a little and there were one or two tulips out. We stopped at a large sand lot for the boys to play and Stephen saw one of the boys who rides his bus to Marymount (a kindergartener), so Stephen had a fine time playing with him and 3 other American children who were there. (David just tagged along behind them, acting like he was one of the big boys) I enjoyed talking with the American mothers while the children played. As lunchtime drew near it started sprinkling so we headed home. That afternoon, after naps, we went to the grocery store. After dinner we took Little Wheels and Motorcyle to the park at Vaugirard until 7:30 when park closed. This was the first “warm” day we’ve had (probably up to 60°)
Tuesday April 10

This morning (another warm sunny day) the boys and I went to Parc des Buttes-Chaumont – a long metro ride with many connections – We did a lot of walking – many large hills in this park (much climbing involved) It took us a long while to work our way back to the metro – we didn’t get home for lunch until 1:30 (David sound asleep) After nap, we went shopping at the market and to the park on Bloumet.

Wednesday April 11

This morning we went to the Park Square St. Lambert via the Laundromat. It had rained the night before so things were a little wet. After lunch we went to the park at Vaugirard. That evening the plumber finally came to check on the hot water heater – said he had to completely replace old one. Hopefully he will fix it tomorrow. The children were still very wound up and the evening was so lovely – full moon and lovely spring weather that at 7:30 we all took the metro to the Eiffel Tower and Champs du Mars. We had a lovely time and did not get home until 9:30. We pulled up chairs along the Champs du Mars and Stephen and David gave us a concert performance (Stephen conducting and singing “Our Favorite Things” and David singing I’m not sure what). We also had races which Stephen and David won (Mommy and Daddy are getting too old)
Thursday April 12

Sid took off work this morning and we went to the top of the Eiffel Tower because it was such a clear day and fairly warm. By the time we reached the top it was cloudy and hazy and cold winds. When we descended it cleared up and was again sunny. No luck!

The plumber installed a new hot water heater in the afternoon. Family went to Vaugirard park and came home to hot baths.

Friday April 13 (It figures)

Hot water heater is still not doing right. Concierge is sympathetic but nothing can be done until next Tues. or Weds. Melinda + kids went to park in the morning and after lunch Stephen played with Phillipe (concierge’s boy) in courtyard from 2-6 straight. Went back to Vaugirard after supper for a while until closing time (7:30)

Saturday April 14

A busy day! In the morning, the whole family took metro/bus to Bagatelle, a chateau and its grounds located on the far side of the Bois de Boulogne. It is justly famous for its spring flowers. Acres of beautiful gardens and paths with large fields of tulips, daffodils, and jonquils in full bloom. A gorgeous sunny day really made it “out-of-this-world”. Stopped at another park (Ranalegh Park) on the way home. A quick lunch and we were off again, this time to the “bateau mouche” boat ride up + down the Seine from the copy of the Statue of Liberty to below the Ile St. Louis. Weather was perfect and the kids well-behaved for a great trip. Afterwards, we stopped at the rooftop (9th floor) terrace restaurant of the Samaitaine Department Store for lemonade and a panoramic view of the city. Sid <took> the kids back to Vaugirard while Melinda shopped and made supper. A busy but wonderful day!
Sunday April 15th (Easter)

The French Easter Bunny managed to make a visit to leave Stephen + David candy and books. The kids looked really sharp for Easter and Stephen stayed all the way through church to hear the special music which included a male quartet from Cambridge. After lunch we took a long subway ride to Chateau Vincennes, including a tour of the donjon and keep, dating back to the 1300’s. We made a slight detour on the way home to stop at another park (Park Montsouris) which was also an opportunity to use railroad (urban line) part of the metro, the RER.

Monday April 16

The good weather of the past several days ran out of gas, but we all went to the park at Butte-Chaumont. A large lovely place with lots of hills which the kids loved to run up and down. We stopped at Luxembourg gardens on the way home but it was too cool to stay. Stephen, Daddy + David went to Vaugirard later that afternoon.

Tuesday April 17

Cold and damp today. The plumber came in the morning and promised to be back after lunch. He arrived at 5:00 PM and cleaned out some of the pipes with acid. He wanted to leave the water off in the kitchen when he left, and it took ½ hour of arguing to convince him not to. He’s supposed to come back tomorrow and finish the acid. Sure hope so!

Wednesday-Friday April 18-20

Stephen still on vacation, but David started back Thurs. Weather continues to be a little cold and occasionally damp. Thursday evening Sid + Melinda went to ‘La Boheme’ at L’Opera. The music was very good. Our seats were in the highest balcony on the side, so there was a part of the stage we couldn’t see, but for 10F it was still a bargain (Those were the only seats available when the tickets went on sale last Thursday).
Saturday April 21

We all rode the rural (commuter) train (RER) out to St. Germain-en-Laye and visited the park and looked at the chateau (but didn’t go through it). A nice ride and the park was beautiful with lots of bushes/trees in bloom. After supper, we took a promenade up to watch the trains come in to Montparnasse (The park at Vaugirard closed up a little early).

Sunday April 22

SS/church in the AM. After lunch, Mommy, Daddy, and David went to a park which featured a tropical greenhouse and an astounding azalea exhibit. The rest of the park was also in full bloom, both flowers and trees. Daddy, Stephen + David went to Vaugirard while Mommy got supper ready. The Park was at Porte d’Auteuil – with cherry blossoms in full bloom on trees.

Monday April 23

Busy day for Sid, as representatives from Martin in Orlando are here for the week. The weather was rather wet, so no chance for parks after school. While David was in school, I went to Italian travel bureau to find out about discount gas coupons for car travel in Italy (to promote tourism) – (We plan on going to Italy next week) – Unfortunately, the deal is not valid for rental cars. I then went to Austrian Tourist Bureau to pick up brochures. While there, I picked up a flyer on low cost bus excursion trips handled by a travel agency near Metro – Gokdins. I then went there to get details – they have low cost trips to Copenhagen, Munich, Salzburg, Amsterdam, etc. We hope we can take advantage of it.
Tuesday April 24

This morning I went to the Laundromat and to the meat market. It was another rainy day, so no park excursions for the children after school. This evening we were invited out to dinner by M. Nico (Thompson CSF) along with the Martin people from Orlando who were here for the week and other Thompson employees. We first went on a boat ride down the Seine on Vedette from Pont Ilena (near Eiffel Tower). We rode past the Ile St Louis and returned. We then went to the restaurant “Le Relais Louis XIII at 1 Rue du Pont de Lodi – near metro Odeon – very delicious meal we both had boeuf - the best we had had in Paris. A very late night 1:30 when we returned.
Wednesday 25 April
This morning I went back to Baccarat crystal on Rue de Paradis. We had bought some crystal there in March. When Americans buy more than 480 F there we don’t pay the V. A. tax. They gave us a paper that we gave the douane (on our Belgium trip) and upon receipt of the paper from the douane – Baccarat was to reimburse us the VAT. Unfortunately, when the douane sent the papers to Baccarat, they forgot to sign it. Therefore Baccarat had not sent me my money. According to the phone conversation I had with them yesterday they intended to do nothing about it and suggested I resubmit the papers to the douane on my next departure from France. But I didn’t want to carry the package out again – too big – After much talking – the salesman ended up paying me (out of his own pocket, I think)

Thursday – Friday 26-27 April

These days were spent getting ready for the trip.

Saturday April 28th
We left our apartment at 7:00 am and went by metro to the Avis Rental Agency. They did not have the Ford Fiesta that we had ordered so we had to take a Renault 5. We got on the road by 8:00 – cloudy overcast day. – Only slight problem getting out of town. We had lunch in the car. We ran into a little snow on the way to Geneva. We arrived in Geneva at 2 pm and parked along the quai near the Jardin Anglais. We walked along admiring the lovely flowers – (some in form of the clock). Stephen and David found a little merry-go-round that they played on (didn’t want to leave it). The tulips were in full bloom. We then set out to find the Reformation Monument and by accident parked right next to it and the surrounding park. The boys found a seesaw at that park. We drove over the Tour d’Ile bridge on the way out of Geneva and along the Quai Mont Blanc. We then drove to Lausanne and went by the cathedral there. We also drove to the beach section called Ouchy. We then drove on the Lavaux Corniche – very high up (Sid didn’t want to look down) – It was a lovely overlook of Lake Geneva – Vineyards (not yet out) covered the hillside. We took the Lavaux Corniche to Vevey and Montreux (the hotel recommended in the $10.00 a day book was closed as was the recommended restaurant. We also drove on past the Castle of Chillon to Villaneuve and found a lovely room at Le Chateau. It had a huge bed and reception area with table and medieval swords all to ourselves. We went to a park across the street – right on Lake Geneva with a playground.- There were a lot of fishermen there – (Also in the morning it seemed that the same ones were there). We had dinner at Montreux (Pizza and spaghetti.
Sunday April 29

We had breakfast at Le Chateau and again walked over to the park while waiting. We drove on to Aigle and started along the Pillon Pass. We drove a short detour (5 km) to go to Leysen where we found a Patisserie – the one I went to 15 yrs ago was closed for vacation- We went by the hotel I had stayed in with Viv Adams and Patty Miller. We then went <past> Les Diablerets, Gstaad, and Saaen. Then we went on to Thun where we had a delightful picnic on the lake. (Sid had taken a boat from Thun to Interlaken when he was in Germany). We then arrived in Interlaken and went on to see Trummelbach Falls – we took the lift up and walked down. We then went on to Grindelwald where we parked the car and the kids found another playground. Sid and I sat on a bench there looking at the children and the lovely mountains, eating chocolate. We then drove back to Interlaken and drove down the famous drive Hoheweg and walked along to the Casino. Then we went on to Klanderstag and took the car-train to Goppenstein (a 15 minute ride in the tunnel). We then went on to Visp and spent a night there in a Zimmer (room) in a chalet type house. We ate dinner in a Tea Room in town.
Monday April 30
We drove to Brig and then down to Tasch. Cars are not allowed beyond this point, so we took a quick train ride to Zermatt. It seemed that we were the only non-skiers there – they all were trying to catch the last snow before spring – I think. It was a cloudy day and we didn’t have a very good view of the Matterhorn. We then took the train back to Tasch and then drove back to Brig. Since we were ahead of schedule we drove down the Simplon Pass Road instead of taking the car-train to Iselle. We saw a lot of snow on this section of the trip – we stopped for the boys to make snowballs. We crossed over into Italy at Gondo – then the road became terrible – gravel in parts and very curvy. We crossed back over into Switzerland right before Locarno. We were quite amazed at the tropical atmosphere here – lovely camellias in bloom and palm trees. It is located on Lake Maggiore. We stopped here for lunch (sandwiches) at a park where some sort of exhibition was going on and bought lunch under one of the tents (It seemed like a Kiwanis-type group). We then drove on to Lugano – another lovely town, but much larger – on Lake Lugano. It also had lovely flowers – very tropical – and a nice walkway along the lake with beautiful flowers and fountains. We then drove on Horrough Como to Milan. The only thing there we really wanted to see was the The Last Supper by da Vinci. We were running close to closing time, but somehow had no trouble finding the street and even a parking place. We walked down a couple of blocks and then – disappointment! – It was closed on Mondays! It wouldn’t help to spend the night here and wait until tomorrow because it was a fete-day “Fete du Travail” – Labor Day and it would be closed again! Oh well! So we decided to drive on. We got off the Autostrada at Bergamo – hoping to find a place to spend the night. We drove over the entire town, it seemed, even up to the Citta Alta on the hill with its historical center, but we found no accommodations. (We were looking for pensions or chambers – just rooms – not hotels). On the trip the boys used the sleeping bag so we only needed a double room. So we got back on the Autostrada and drove on to Brescia and found a “motel” near the exit and stayed there.
Tuesday May 1st
Today we headed for Venice – along with the rest of the world! What a crowd! We had trouble finding the parking lot in the Michelin Green Book on Italy. We made a U-turn and there was a policeman waiting to give us a ticket along with many other cars doing the same thing (less than $5.00) We went back a little and found a large lot and took the Vaporetto line #3. The Vaporetto line #1 that goes down the Grand Canal wasn’t running (I guess because it was a fete day). We thought line #3 was taking us to St. Mark’s Square, but somehow it stopped on the nearby island. We walked to the tip and found no bridge to get over to St. Mark’s Square, so we had to backtrack. This turned out to be a fortunate event as we ended up passing by the Venice House owned by Wake Forest. We were not even looking for it, but Sid spotted it by chance. I rang the bell and them I was a graduate of WFU and they invited us in. It turned out to be Mrs. Banks (I had her husband for a course in Primitive Religion) She showed us around the facility – it had been the residence of the ambassador from the U.S. – the U.S. sold it to WFU in 1971. We then found a place for lunch (We ate pizza and spaghetti nearly every meal in Italy – we loved it!) We ate lunch patio overlooking the Canal Della Giudecca. We then set out to find St. Mark’s Square – we passed a gift shop and I bought some Murano glass. On our way we also spotted the Rialto Bridge with all the shops and millions of people and gondolas going up and down the Grand Canal. We then found St. Mark’s Square – full of pigeons! (Stephen and David both loved chasing them.) We went into St. Mark’s Basilica. We had planned to go to the Lido, but it was so crowded in Venice and it was getting late in the afternoon, so we decided to head on to Florence. We found our way to the street indicated in the $10 a Day book to be the Best for low cost accommodations – Via Faenza. As it was late, several pensions were full, but we stayed at Locanda Anna – a lovely place, very friendly owners, who took a liking to the boys. It was filled with mostly college age students – very nice types and friendly. We had bought fixings for dinner so we had dinner in our room that evening.
Wednesday May 2nd
We took off early to see the city of Florence in a day. It turned out to be not quite as nice as we had expected – noisy – narrow sidewalks, crowded and not too clean. We first went to the Medici Chapels (Princes’ Chapel – tombs of the Medici and New Sacristy designed by Michelangelo (tombs of Guilarano Lorenzo Medici) We then went to the Baptistry (famous doors – Giotto Paradise) – The flood of 1966 really had done damage to it and the building needed a good cleaning! We then went into the Cathedral. We then set out to find the Uffizi Museum – the entrance was very poorly marked and much tearing up of streets and construction was going on in the area. We spent only a little while – mainly in the Botticelli Room. Sid and the boys then went back to Pension Anna to load the car and have lunch, while I went shopping on the Via Dell’Ariento – it was a big disappointment as I had been led to believe (by the $10/day book) that Florence was the city for great bargains – I couldn’t find them! I did buy a few things but certainly didn’t find things cheap. We then met back at the Pension and walked to the Accademia which contained Michelangelo’s DAVID. We then took the car and drove to the Petti Palace and Ponte Vecchio – it was so congested that we didn’t go in but instead we headed for Rome. We arrived in Rome around dinner time and without much trouble located the railway station area and found a parking place. Instead of trying out one of the specific places in the $10 a day book, we just went to the one closest to the parking spot we had found. It was very nice – the family even had 2 small children that Stephen and David played with. We then went to the nearest restaurant which happened to be mentioned in the $10 a day book (Osteria de Salvatore) [On our way in town a man stopped us [he was in the car behind us at a red traffic light!]and wanted us to follow him to his pension – near the Vatican – it was too expensive though] After dinner, the TRAGEDY of our trip happened – David was standing on the bidet in our room washing his hands and slipped! He cracked his head open – a lot of blood – frightened me to death – the owners of the pension were very helpful and took us to the Pharmacy – unfortunately the doctor was off-duty. They bought bandages and disinfectant and tried to fix it the best they could. They offered to take him to the hospital, but by this time Sid had decided it wasn’t too bad after all – possibly they’d put on a butterfly bandage – so we didn’t go. We hoped we had done the right thing and that David would be all right. He was acting his usual self – smiling and running around charming everyone.
Thursday May 3

We got an early start to go to the Vatican. We walked several blocks to the train station, stopping for donuts for breakfast on the way. We boarded a double-decker city bus for the Vatican. It took us across the river to St. Peter’s Square. We then went into St Peter’s – a truly majestic building – each chapel a masterpiece in itself. In the first chapel was the white marble Pieta carved by Michelangelo. It is a truly awe-inspiring building. From the side of St. Peter’s we took a small bus to the Vatican Museums – Sistine Chapel. We then walked back to the city bus and took it as far as the stop near the Pantheon. Walked into the Pantheon – perfectly proportioned with large dome. It is amazing how well preserved it is (founded in 27 BC, rebuilt 117-125 AD) We walked (eating ice cream, David napping) to the Piazza Navona (a large square with Fountain of the Four Rivers by Bernini). We then walked to the Piazza Venezia (Palace Venetian) and had lunch at a sidewalk café overlooking Piazza de Campedoglio (Capitoline Hill) - statue of Marcus Aurelius on horseback. I remembered seeing a picture of this square on the International Herald Tribune a couple of weeks ago – that it had been bombed – still some damage could be see, but workmen were busy repairing it. We then entered the Roman Forum. The children loved it here – climbing on all the ancient remains (we had to be careful of David’s head though). We then climbed up the Palatine Hill. We walked through the lovely Farnese Gardens and the Roman remains. It was so lovely and peaceful and a beautiful sunny day. We then exited by the Arch of Titus, going to the Coliseum. It was very large (said to be able to hold 50,000 spectators) – a very impressive sight. Next to it, we had seen the Arch of Constantine. We then walked along the Imperial Forums (Trajan’s Forum and Column). Next we went to the Trevi Fountains and the boys and I threw in our coins. While Sid sat with the boys on the steps around the fountain, I went shopping at the shops surrounding the square (bought a pair of shoes). We then walked up to the Piazza di Spagna. On the way we found a sign for Papagalli leather goods so we hunted that store – no good buys though. We ended up coming to the top of the staircase of the Piazza di Espangna. Sid climbed down for a picture and then climbed back up. We were tired and planned to take the Metro back to the train station, but found that that line was not yet completed – so we walked all the way back to the pension. What a full day we had! We ate dinner at the same restaurant as last night and stopped to get the boys ice cream afterwards for their good behavior during the long day.
Friday May 4
On Friday morning, we drove out along the Appian Way (we had a little trouble getting to it) to the Beltway around Rome and took it to the Autostrada to Pisa and saw the Leaning Tower. We [except Sid] climbed to the top (we felt ourselves leaning over while climbing the circular stairway) after Pisa we headed for the Italian Riviera and got off at the Portofino Peninsula and stayed in Ropallo at a pension.
Saturday May 5

We took the Autostrada past Genoa to San Remo (Genoa marks the divide between Eastern and Western Riviera). We drove along (after stretching our legs at a park) to Ospedaletti where we stopped at another lovely park for lunch of sandwiches. The boys located a playground there (In San Remo we walked along the water until we found a free public beach area. Stephen rolled up his pants and went wading – water was cold – David played in the sand). We then passed over into France and went to Monaco. We went into the Casino in Monte Carlo and drove up to the Prince’s Palace. We then drove along the Great Corniche to Nice – (a very high road – stopping at the Café Belvedere for a panoramic view). In Nice we walked along the Promenade des Anglais along the sea. We then drove on to Cannes, along the Boulevard de la Croisette – a very expensive looking town. We then drove on to Aix-en-Provence for the evening (again the hotel in the $10 a day book was not open), so we found a nice hotel with garage so we wouldn’t have to unload the car.
Sunday May 6

We took the expressway via Lyon to Paris – we arrived in Paris at 4:30 and unloaded the car. We ran into a traffic jam close to home (at the Exposition Center – Foire de Paris was going on) Sid then took the car back to Avis (only got charged for 7 days instead of 9.)

Monday May 7

Wash day – piled high from the trip. Also grocery shopping.

Tuesday May 8

Cleaning day – more shopping.

Wednesday May 9
Dad was scheduled to arrive at 8:30 this morning – Sid left at 7:00 to go to Charles de Gaulle airport – at 7:30 airport called to say plane wouldn’t be in until 2:30. Sid and Dad finally reached the apartment after 5:00 – a long day for Dad (ended up going from Washington to New York before getting to Paris)

Thursday May 10

Dad went with me to pick up David from school at noon. David, Dad, and I rode bus 82 from Montparnasse to pick up Stephen from school (He was playing softball on the school team, so couldn’t take the school bus home).

Friday May 11

After dropping David off, Dad and I went to Thomas Cook Travel Agency to see if there was any English speaking tours available in Europe – no luck. We then walked down from Madeline to Concorde. It started raining so we went to Galeries Lafayette Department Store. There were strikes on the metro line so we allowed plenty of time to pick up David – we took an alternate metro route home as we had heard our line was striking.
Saturday May 12 

The day was too gray for a planned expedition to Versailles [Somewhere around here Stephen took standardized tests at school “Stanine” and really aced it out – 4 ‘9’s (top 4%), 1 ‘8’ (top 11%), and 2 ‘7’s (top 23%. ‘7’s in Vocabulary and Listening Comprehension, ‘9’s in 2 math categories, word study, reading and spelling).

Sunday May 13

Melinda and Grampa went to Louvre and rendezvoused at Church. Went to park in P.M.

Monday - Friday May 14 – 18

Standard schedule for the kids. Stephen’s bus driver went on vacation Thursday/Friday and the replacement missed picking him up both days. Sid played “football” (soccer) with the team from the ATLIS project in a company league game on Thursday night after work (game was 1-1 tie). Melinda + Grampa went out in the morning to see Paris (Eiffel Tower, Pantheon, Notre Dame, etc.)
Saturday May 19

AM: Stephen, David, and Daddy went to check out a new park Stephen had noticed from his bus on the way to school. Grampa went to Invalides.

PM: All except Stephen went out to the flower show at the Floral Park at Chateau Vicennes. A Really Big Show, as Ed Sullivan would have said. Acres and acres of flowers and bushes in full bloom, arranged by various horticultural societies. After supper, Stephen, David + Daddy went to Bloumet park.

Sunday May 20

Big trip to Versailles today (in spite of gray skies) to see the fountains in the park (Grand d’Eaux). We toured the main building, then walked out to the Grand and Petite Trianon. Occasional rain showers, but we stuck it out long enough to see most of the fountains start at 4:00. We were surprised that the flower beds were not planted.

Monday May 21

Normal day. After supper, Mom + Dad got a special outing to the Bolshoi Ballet while Grampa babysat. The ballet was held at the Grand Auditorium of the Palais du Congress which holds 3700 people in tremendous comfort with great sight-lines. The ballet, a loose recounting of Icarus, was superb – the dancers, the sets, the lights and the music were all excellent.

Tuesday May 22

Normal day. Dad got home late because of a volleyball match that went to 3 out of 5 sets (we lost, but every game was close)

Wednesday May 23

Normal day. Sid and Melinda left for Copenhagen (Denmark) on a bus tour package. Left Chatelet at 8:00 PM and arrived in Copenhagen 2:00 the following day. We packed things to eat on t he bus and even got some sleep. The trip went through Belgium, W. Germany, and went by ferry to Denmark. A beautiful ride (Had to call home to tell Grampa about the back door key).
Thursday May 24

We did not stay at the same hotel as the rest of the tour, but found our own rooms across the street. Thursday, we walked around and got oriented. (Thursday night, we saw ‘Animal House’ movie)

Friday May 25

The tour went on an excursion to Ellsinore (Hamlet’s castle) and we (and almost everybody else) went over to Sweden (a 15 minute ferry ride) and shopped. Despite intermittent rain, it was a very pleasant outing. After supper, some of us went with the guides (who spoke English, as did many other people on the tour) to a “beer-hall” place that had a lot of atmosphere.

Saturday May 26

A beautiful sunny warm day for our walks around Copenhagen and other trips. In the morning, we shopped and walked up and down the “Stroget” a series of “walking streets”. The dept. stores (esp. the “Den Permante” were like museums with such beautiful things. After lunch, we rode the train to the suburbs and saw the open-air museum, a “Willamsburg” type reconstruction of Danish farm life of centuries ago with authentic buildings and being used as intended with live animals, etc. After that, we rode the train to Bakkeen, a giant midway type amusement park located in the middle of a beautiful old park. Very wholesome looking, not cheap honky-tonk. We came back, ate supper, and went to Tivoli Gardens after dark. Words can’t describe it! We saw bands, the Boy Guards, children’s dance contest, pantomime (commedia dell’arte) all in a beautiful park with rides, open-air restaurants, fountains, and colored lights. At least as good as Disney! We didn’t last until the 11:45 fireworks, though.
Sunday May 27

We caught the few things we had missed on Sat., including the Glyptek Museum (built by the owner of the Carlsburg brewery). We were continually given assistance by the local residents, who gave directions and other information and were extremely helpful and friendly. Sunday noon we started back to Paris, arriving at 7:00 AM Monday.

Monday May 28

Arrived home at 7:30 and saw the kids off to school. Dad played volleyball after work (winning 3-0). Grampa went out on his own and visited Sacre Coeur.

Tuesday – Thursday May 29 – 31

Normal days. Dad played soccer on Weels after work (we won 2-0). Grandpa went sight-seeing. Weather alternated between hot + humid and cold + rainy. Sid and Melinda went to the Nico’s (French boss at work) for supper on Tues.

Friday June 1 

Sid and Melinda left Friday night on another WERI bus trip, this time to Munich. Bus left at 8:00 PM and arrived Munich about 8:30 AM next morning. One of the guides from last weekend was our guide and there were several people on the tour also from the Copenhagen trip. Also, Al Levy + his wife (the other MMC couple) went along at the last minute but had to ride on jump seats in aisle.

Saturday June 2

Walked around Munich in the morning, seeing the Old City with lots of churches, plazas, etc. Beautiful hot day. Saw everything from 14C mechanical clock with dancing figures to entire skeleton of saint all dressed up on display. Visited the Detches Museum which was like a giant show + tell for science and industry (fascinating) and Munich municipal museum with armor and 2 ft dancing figures from 14C. In the afternoon, we took the train up to Garmish for a short visit (just strolled around and enjoyed the mountain air – much cooler than Munich!) We didn’t try to go up on the Zutspeig (there’s never enough time to do everything!). After riding back and catching a little late supper, we visited the Hofbrauhaus. Sat with some drunk GI’s and just watched the mixed bag of tourists go by.

Sunday June 3

The tour took an all-day excursion to Salzburg (in Austria – about 2 hrs away by bus). Again very warm. We saw the sights and returned back to Munich about 7. After that, we rode the subway (very modern and comfortable) out to the Olympic Park (met and went with an interesting Kansas woman). The park was very beautiful and we wanted to jump in the swimming pool. By the time we rode the subway back it was after 9. When we came out of the subway at the main square, there was a huge torch-light parade going on by former residents of the Suddendeatch (?) who were climaxing their yearly reunion with a protest against the post World War II inclusion of their homeland as part of East Germany. Very moving.
Monday June 4
We got up early and visited the Oktoberfest Meadow and other parks we had missed before. Our tour took another all-day excursion, this time to High Bavaria, a resort region 30 miles south of Munich. We toured through some beautiful country then spent the afternoon in a small town beside the Schlidersee (a large lake). We rented a pedal-paddle boat and putted around the lake, then recovered in an outdoor ‘bier garten’ where we were about the only tourists – the locals all wore lederhosen and sang along with the band. A good time was had by all. We returned to Munich at 5 and left for home at 6, arriving at 6:30 in Paris.
Tuesday June 5

Normal day. Stephen did not feel good at suppertime.

Wednesday June 6

Stephen stayed home from school so he would be better for the zoo trip tomorrow. David’s school had a puppet show. Grandpa finally (4th try) got to see Sainte Chappelle.

Thursday June 7

Stephen (and his class from school) went to the zoo at Chateau de Vincennes and also had his regular Thursday after-school softball. Grandpa went to see a tennis match with all the biggies (Ashe, Borg, Connors). Sid picked up the London tickets and the new wheel for David’s stroller.

Friday June 8

All set for London – normal school day.

Saturday June 9

Left for London on the train at 8:37, connecting with the Hovercraft and got to London at 1:30. After dropping our bags at the hotel, we walked to the Tate Gallery (William Blake drawings, modern art). After supper, Sid + Melinda went to ‘Annie’, the musical based on Little Orphan Annie.
Sunday June 10

After an early walk through Kensington Gardens, we walked up Whitehall Street (past 10 Downing Street) to see the changing of the Horse Guards. Then over to Buckingham Palace to see the changing of the guard there. After lunch, we took a 2 hr. bus tour around London. Then to Speaker’s Corner in Hyde Park and on to the National Gallery at Trafalgar Square.

Monday June 11

We started off at the Tower of London and the crown jewels (unreal diamonds!). After that, we went to the British Museum/Library and saw the Magna Carta, the Rosetta Stone, and other treasures too numerous to mention. From there, we walked to the Toy Museum (the kids really didn’t want to leave). Melinda went shopping at Harrod’s on the way home. That night Sid + Melinda went to see  the House of Commons at Parliament and then on to ‘Bubbling Brown Sugar’ (a Broadway musical about Harlem – rather disappointing). While we were out, David fell + split his head open – 3 stitches.

Tuesday June 12

An early start at Westminister Abbey. While Melinda went shopping, Sid, Grandpa, Stephen + David went to the Science Museum (especially geared to kids). While we were waiting at Victoria Station, we saw a big parade – the Queen had come to the station to meet the President of Kenya. We saw  mounted soldiers, bands, etc. the Queen, Prince Phillip, Prince Charles, etc. Then on to the train (in a rush) connecting with the ferry, and the train into Paris (very nice) arriving home at 11:00
Wednesday June 13

Back to the grind. Got word at work MMC had suspended all Orlando work on ATLIS project.

Thursday June 14

Grandpa went to the Rodin Museum. Mommy + Stephen played softball after school.

Friday June 15

Daddy saw Grandpa off to the airport (kids were sad) Weather is still unseasonably cold (high in high 50°. – low 60°) and heavy rain today.

Saturday June 16
Daddy took David to the American Hospital to have his stitches taken out. Daddy, Stephen + David went to Vaugirard after naptime – sunny but still cold and windy.

Sunday June 17

Church in the AM – no SS in summer, so Stephen sat through whole service. Sid took boys to Vaugirard after naptime. Still slightly cool, especially for June (according to the Parisiennes)

Monday June 18

Stephen started his last week of school. David was a little out of sorts but went to nursery school. Weather was beautiful and sunny, but not warm. Herald Tribune subscription ran out today.
Tuesday June 19

Pretty day. Normal activities.

Wednesday June 20
David’s last day (but he starts summer school next week).

Thursday June 21

Stephen’s last day at Marymount. He got out at noon, but the substitute bus driver got lost and another mother took all the kids off the bus at 1:30. Melinda fell getting off of the bus going to get Stephen and pulled a thigh muscle. Some day!

Friday June 22

Good weather (relatively) continues. Still no definite word on future of project. Melinda up and around a little.

Saturday June 23

Went to Bagatelle Park in the morning to see the roses. There was every conceivable size and color rose, all at the height of bloom. Quite an exhibit and the weather was perfect – sunny and warm. After lunch, nap-time and play-time until supper. After supper, we went to the Champ de Mars/Eiffel Tower and walked over to Trocadero, then took the metro up to Charles de Gaulle Etoile to see the Arc de Triomphe by floodlight at 10:00. (Sunset was at 9:45, so it was still twilight). Then we took the bus to Sacre Coeur to see the bonfire for the celebration of St. Jean, which is the traditional celebration of the start of summer. Got home at midnight. Stephen lasted all the way but David fell asleep on the way home. A beautiful evening for an excursion and all of Paris was outside, too, walking and stopping in the cafes.
Sunday June 24

Got up late after the big night before. Went to church (Seattle Boy’s Choir provided music) and then home to lunch and naps. A little cloudy and cooler than yesterday, which was ideal weather.

Monday June 25

David started summer school – 9-1 (+lunch). The teachers wanted to know if he was always so charming!!!

Tuesday June 26

David’s teachers are wising up – today they asked if he was always so “independent”. They thought it was unusual for one so young to be so “one-track” i.e. stubborn.

Wednesday - Thursday June 27-28

Getting into the summer routine. Stephen is enjoying playing rummy every chance he gets. Today David write on the wall of his bedroom in green ink – hanging is too good for him! Sid + David went to see trains this afternoon.

Friday June 29

Sid + Melinda went and got ‘carte de sejour’ and visas today. We were led through it by a clerk from a lawyer’s office (MMC paid him a fat fee for it). We never would have made it by ourselves. In the afternoon, Sid brought home the MMC company car for the trip the next day.
Saturday June 30

We got an early start and drove to Rouen where as visited the cathedral and walked around the city a little, getting fresh, hot croissants for breakfast. Then we drove on to Deauville and the upper Normandy coast. (Too cold to get out and walk on the beach – Actually, we stopped for just long enough for the kids to pick up some seashells, but not more than 5 minutes.). We had lunch at Bayeux and then went to see the Bayeux Tapestry, an amazing relic. We spent the night at Avranches, which overlooks Mt. St. Michael and its bay. We walked around the city a little and waited in the beautiful public garden to see M-S-M by night. Unfortunately, by 10:30 it was still daylight and windy and cold, so we gave it up. (We also saw a square which had a memorial to General Patton, built from American soil and legally part of the US!). Earlier in the afternoon, we visited the Am. Cemetery at Omaha Beach – very beautifully done and deeply moving.

Saturday July 1

We drove over to M-S-M early in the morning. Tide was out, but that doesn’t make any difference to the road except at the equinoxes (Sept + March). Lots of climbing steps. We took the guided tour (in French) which gave a good idea of how big + old the place really is. It was still cold + windy, but cleared up + warmed up as we left, so we picnicked along the road overlooking a beautiful bay (Cancales). We drove out to a point for a spectacular view. The sun was out, the sea was blue (This stretch of coast is known, with reason, as the ‘Emerald Coast’). Roses were blooming everywhere in Normandy and Brittany and made every scene colorful. We stopped at a beach for the kids to play in the sand, which they enjoyed immensely. Stephen lost a game of ‘tag’ with the ocean and had to put on dry clothes. We toured some other cities in the area (St Malo, Dinard, Dinan) and then headed back to Paris. We stopped on the way home to eat supper and walk around Alencon (where they make lace), then back home by dark (i.e. 10:30 pm!!)

Monday July 2

Plumber came today to fix gas leak. Sid took the car back to give to Al Levy at work.

Tuesday July 3

Played cards (as usual) after supper and had popcorn. Stephen showed he knew how to multiply 18x81 (!).

Weds-Thursday July 4 – 5

Weather continues fair but a little cool (generally plenty of sun). Had hamburgers and Coke for supper to celebrate 4th.  Still checking into options about trip to Greece. Popcorn and rummy after supper (Sid is no competition for Steve and Mom).

Friday July 6

Usual day – popcorn and cards after supper. David took no nap and so went to bed early. Sid brought MMC car home.

Saturday July 7

Went on excursion – the cathedral at Chartres (very impressive – stained glass windows were fantastic) in the AM, lunch at a lovely park/playground in Chartres, then a visit to the chateau at Maintenon. Home for supper, popcorn, and cards.

Sunday July 8

There was some special music in church today – a ‘rebec’ and a ‘psaltry’ (stringed instruments). The two women playing performed Middle Ages music with a Moorish flavor. Very different but very interesting. Everyone napped most of the afternoon. Sid took the kids to the playground at Champ de Mars after supper. It was very convenient to take the car to church and later to the playground.

Monday July 9

Stephen was a little under the weather today as it turned cool and gray. Bought a Herald Tribune for the first time since subscription ran out a month or so ago, but I think I’m better off not knowing how bad everything is.

Tuesday – Wednesday July 10/11

Stephen is completely recovered. Sid ordered the tickets for our Greece trip, but still a lot of loose ends. MMC sent a TXW to “semi-officially” tell us that we should plan on returning home September 15.
Thursday – Friday July 12/13

We bought the tickets for the train and boat part of our vacation next month and also made some of the hotel reservations. Weather has been overcast and rainy but cleared up late this afternoon for all the “fetes” this weekend (14th July – Bastille Day)

Saturday July 14

In the morning, the family went on an outing to the park at Bois de Bologne. In the afternoon, everyone took naps in preparation for the big evening. We left after supper at 9:00 PM for the “spectacle” at the Place de la Concorde. A perfect evening for an outing. We ran into a friend of mine from work who gave us some advice about how to get there and where to go. The show started at dark (10:30) with a sound and light show. They projected slides against the building facades around the Place and afterwards had an excellent fireworks display (equal to those of Disney during the Bicentennial) although the fireworks seemed dangerously low. The Place de la Concorde was decorated with red/white/blue light bulbs in all of the street lamps. The crowd was large, but orderly. Coming home on the metro afterwards was a real experience – the pressure of the crowd was overwhelming – you simply were swept into the train and then compressed beyond belief as each car was filled to at least twice the allowed capacity. But we got home in fine shape by 12:00. Most of the people, I believe, stayed after the fireworks to dance all night. A real carnival atmosphere.
Sunday July 15

Took it easy today. Church in the AM, naps + park in the afternoon, and cards, dominoes (Steve’s newest passion) and popcorn in the evening.

Monday July 16
Sid went by the rental agent and gave notice that we’re moving out by 15 Sept. Also made some more phone calls to set up our vacation, which is getting fairly well organized. Pretty day (sunny, up to 76°) Had the now-traditional popcorn, cards, + dominoes after supper.

Tuesday – Wednesday July 17-18

Tickets for our vacation and return flight home have been mailed from Orlando. Al Levy returned from his vacation and said that Sorrento (where we plan to go on our trip) was really beautiful. Dollar is dropping again despite Carter’s latest speech. Kids are doing their usual things. Weather has turned very nice (pretty warm during the day).

Thursday – Friday July 19 – 20

Looking ahead to going home – planning when to move out, getting things straight with the rental agent, the movers, John Beauregard (MMC), etc. – Melinda is taking a weekend to go to Amsterdam leaving the kids + apartment in the capable (?) hands of Daddy. Should be interesting for both of us.

Saturday – Sunday July 21 – 22 (Paris)

Saturday turned cold + windy so we did not go to the piscine (swimming pool). David fell and hurt the back of his head a little, but it is all right now. We spent the day in the apartment playing game, etc. For supper, Daddy brought some dough at the boulangerie and made a pizza (However, he also heated up the things that Mom had left, just in case it didn’t turn out!). The pizza worked out pretty well and was completely eaten. Also, we had popcorn for an evening snack. Sunday morning was a little more sunny so we all went to the piscine for a while. It was nicely laid out with changing rooms, the pool (on the 2nd floor) which was very large, and an observers grandstand on the third floor. The water was a little cool for our Florida taste, but Stephen and David both loved it and swam until they turned blue. After lunch was “clean-up-the-apartment” and nap time. After an early supper, we went to the park at Bloumet until 8:00 PM and had it all to ourselves. Stephen was an especially good ‘helper’ today – he even went and got the bread for supper all by himself – and he and David did their “brother-brother” act all day. Popcorn again for a snack (after coming back from the park)
Monday July 23

Mommy got home from Amsterdam this morning early after a good trip. David went to school as usual while Stephen stayed home and wrote letters. Sid talked to Mimi + Poppi and to the Morans (all well with both). Stephen put on a puppet show both before and after supper and the kids played with the water pistol Mommy had brought them from Amsterdam.

Tuesday July 24

The plane tickets arrived!! (GREECE -> VIENNA -> AMSTERDAM -> TAMPA -> ORLANDO)Now our vacation is all set up. Kids had their usual busy day. Sid talked to Orlando and our arrangements to move our stuff home are progressing. Things in general seem to be moving in a timely fashion.

Wednesday - Thursday July 25 – 26

Beautiful weather these last two days – whole family went to the park after supper both days and had it all to ourselves, except for the policeman who wanted us to teach him English. David’s school went to the fire station, but he didn’t like it! Things are pretty quiet at work with almost everyone on vacation.

Friday July 27

Mom and Steve did laundry and went to Sq. St. Lambert Park. David had his last day at school. Weather has turned fairly warm – really hot at work with no air-conditioning! Went to park after supper again – gave the policeman another lesson – he’s an interesting character.

Saturday July 28

Family went to Sq. St. Lambert in the morning. A beautiful sunny day with flowers in full bloom and the fountain going. After lunch and nap-time, Sid took the kids to piscine (swimming pool) while Melinda got dough from boulangerie and made pizza which turned out great. Popcorn and cards were the evening entertainment, after returning from the usual outing at Bloumet Park (the policeman was there again). Party on the floor above us until the wee small hours.
Sunday July 29

Church in the AM. After lunch, the family took in some sun at Bloumet (perfect tanning weather), which, as usual, we had all to ourselves most of the time (although the family of the bad kids came later on and got into trouble, as usual – this time the boy kicked another girl’s soccer ball over the fence into the next yard). Sid and David left a little early because it was nap time. After supper, David got out of his bath and took the bathroom door off the hinges! I still don’t understand how he could have done it. Stephen’s latest passion is crossword puzzles, which he solves faster than Mommy and Daddy can make up (except he said King ‘Horrid’ (Herod) for a Bible king).

Monday – Tuesday  July 30 – 31

Weather turned cold and rainy. Kid had to play inside. Mommy went to Inno after supper, while Daddy babysat. Mommy and kids had afternoon snack of popcorn.

Wednesday – Friday Aug 1 – 3 

Weather has been cold in AM, sunny in PM. Mom and kids went to park some (still helping the policeman with his English) and Daddy and kids would go after supper. All are starting to get ready for our vacation next week and the move home.

Saturday Aug 4
Mme Beau [landlady] came by in the morning to discuss our departure. Family went to park in the afternoon, after which Daddy and David had naps. Mommy made pizza for supper.

Sunday Aug 5

A hectic day at church – the nursery attendant didn’t show and there were 12 kids. Daddy stayed with David (by “popular demand” of DP Heidt). Stephen got to have Lord’s Supper which meant a lot to him. Park as usual in the afternoon and evening.

Monday Aug 6

Daddy is making last changes at his work. When we get back from vacation, it will be time for Orlando review. The time from now until we go home seems pretty well occupied.

[Tuesday Aug 7 – no entry]

Wednesday Aug 8

The day was spent getting ready for our trip. Daddy came early for early supper (pizza – made from dough at boulangerie) We left for the Gare de Lyon by metro. We located our train for Rome (Palatino). We had a six person compartment which converted into couchettes – 3 on each side. The two upper bunks were already converted into couchettes so the boys could go up there to play and/or rest whenever they wanted. It was a quite comfortable arrangement. The train ran on schedule arriving in Rome at 10:00 the next morning. We departed at a little before 7 PM.

Thursday Aug 9

What a hectic day! When we arrive in Rome, we had to change money – a long line! Then we found out none of the trains to Naples was running and none had departed all day! The announcements concerning the problem were all in Italian and we never were quite sure what the problem was – we think something was wrong with the track. We waited and waited and the train was so crowded. We had found some seats in the aisle of one of the cars. Finally the train departed at 2:30. For some reason, the ‘Express’ train stopped in every station and had to wait for clearance to go to the next station [Dad, Stephen, and David almost got let at one station when they went in to buy water] – A very long trip! The trip was supposed to take 2 ½ hours, but it took 5 ½ - we arrived at 8:00 PM It upset our plans for the day as we had hoped to go to Pompeii that afternoon on the way to Sorrento. We located the local train – CircumVesuviana -  that took us to Sorrento – This train line seemed much more efficient than the Italy State trains! We arrived in Sorrento at 9:00 PM. Luckily we had food with us and drinks so we were able to eat along the way during the day. In Sorrento we located a street with a lot of hotels and the boys and I waited in one while Daddy tried to locate us a room. The town was very crowded – the peak of the tourist season. Stephen said a little prayer asking Daddy to be able to find a room. We were all very hot and tired. We felt very fortunate as Sid found a room in very little time. We planned to stay in Sorrento for 2 nights, but the hotel manager said we could only have the room 1 night. We took it, thinking we could find another hotel the next day. We were all very glad to have the room and we all got a good night’s sleep.
Friday Aug 10
We started out with breakfast at the hotel. We were able to talk the manager into letting us stay another night in the same room. We walked down to the marina. It was quite a long way down. Looking up at the town from the Marina was quite a lovely sight. The town seemed to be full of very fashionable people. We bought tickets to go to the Isle of Capri via the hydrofoil. Unfortunately, it was quite a bumpy ride and the 20 minute ride almost made David sick and the rest of us were rather woozy also. David had Daddy take him to the bathroom for most of the trip. Since the weather was so windy the Blue Grotto was closed and no boats were going to it. Evidently there is a small opening into it and when the weather is rough the entry is impossible. We then took the funicular up to the main area of Capri from the Marina Grande. From there we took a lovely bus trip to Anacapri – very large drop-offs around curvy roads. Anacapri sits up quite high overlooking the area. We had planned to take a chair lift to the top of Mount Solaro but they didn’t allow small children as it was one person per seat and they wouldn’t let David sit on my lap. So I went to the top while David, Daddy, and Stephen stayed at the bottom eating ice cream (their second round). The view was nice and the chair lift went over grape vineyards. We then rode the bus down to Marina Grande – we had a picnic by the water. Then we took the hydrofoil back to Sorrento – a much smoother ride returning. We then took the CircumVesuviana to Erocolano to try to go to see Vesuvius. Upon arrival we found we had to wait 45 min for a bus. The taxi drivers tried to tell us that the chair lift was broken and we’d be better off taking a taxi which took us closer to the rim of the crater. I felt it was just a tale! We figured that it was too long to wait for the bus, plus I learned that it may be a chair lift that didn’t allow children again (like at Anacapri) – we’ll never know – as it was mid-afternoon we knew we didn’t have time to go to Vesuvius and Pompeii – so we just gave up on Vesuvius and took the CircumVesuviana back to Pompeii. (The late train yesterday really made us miss seeing both Vesuvius and Pompeii both) We arrived at Pompeii – it was much larger than I had expected. The boys enjoyed climbing around on the ruins. Some of the houses really must have been quite elaborate, judging from the remains. We then left Pompeii and set out on a very trying mission. We had to be in Solarno [actually ‘Salerno’ here and below] the next morning to catch an 11:00 train. Since we were spending the night in Sorrento, we had to locate a way to get from Sorrento to Solarno in the morning. We had hoped to take a bus along the Almalfi Road – it is supposed to be a beautiful drive. Unfortunately, there was no bus we could find arriving in Solarno early enough. We knew we could get to Pompeii early – so now we had to set out finding a way to get from Pompeii to Solarno. The town of Pompeii was quite spread out and we had a difficult time locating bus/train information as to schedule or location of stops. Finally we started walking to town – very long walk – ended up taking a taxi to Tourist Info. We located bus stop and schedule – then we walked to train station and found train schedule to Solarno – rest <of the> way. After much hassle we finally figured out a way to get from Sorrento to Solarno. Daddy then treated us to a nice dinner at a sidewalk café – pizza. We then took the train back to Sorrento for the evening. We went out for a walk down the street for ice cream and also bought grapes at a sidewalk market. We also went to grocery to stock up on drinks and food for the next day (the fresh fruit was great all along the trip – the peaches were like softballs and perfectly ripe!) 
Sat Aug 11

Because I was so worried about making connections for the train in Solarno and again in Taranto to get to Brindisi for the boat, we left Sorrento very early. We took the 5:00 train to Pompeii, making a correspondence [connection] to get to the nearest Pompeii station. We then walked from the Circumvesuiviana station to the main train station. We got there early, so we were able to take an earlier train to Solarno. We then were able to take an earlier train to Taranto and we then were able to take an earlier train to Brindisi. We met an Italian girl in Solarno also going to Brindisi and she was a life-saver. She told us which track and which trains to take and when to get off – everything! We would have never made such easy connections on our own – as the announcements for track numbers and departures were entirely in Italian. If we had had to go to Information Desk to find out anything in English we would have missed trains. We were very lucky having her along. We arrived in Brindisi mid-afternoon. This was very fortunate as there was quite a hassle involved in getting everything checked out for the boat trip. We first had to walk to the Embarkation office to pay tax and get stamped and get boarding passes. Then we had to walk to another office called Police for Passport Stamp. Unfortunately, the Embarkation office had failed to us a boarding pass for David and I had to go back to that office again and then return to Passport Control again. Fortunately we had plenty of time or else it would have been very upsetting. I was very glad we had arrived earlier than planned because I’m sure the two lines got very long later. We then had everything ready for boarding the boat, so we went for dinner at another sidewalk café (pizza).After dinner, we walked to a park near the Marina until boarding time – about 8:30 pm. We rode on the boat SGNATIA which departed at 10:30 pm. We met a very nice family (3 boys – youngest age 4) on the deck. We had just bought deck passage as we planned to sleep in sleeping bags on the deck. Unfortunately it started to rain. The family shared their tarpaulin with us, but it was raining too hard and we were forced to move inside – no cover on the deck. We located a spot in the hall by the door and we stayed there all night in cramped quarters, but we did get some sleep. People were sleeping everywhere in the hallways. There were lots of people on the boat – mostly young folks on Eurail passes (this was the boat they could use their Eurail passes on). (This was the first rain in 3 months).
Sun Aug 12

We arrived in Corfu on schedule – at 7:00 AM. We went directly to the hotel located nearest the dock. They had a list of room where people had just left that morning and we were able to talk the hotel manager into letting us have a double room then. We felt so fortunate to have found a room so easily. We had tried to get reservations earlier before our trip but hotels weren’t taking reservations in August – especially for only one night – but that was great as we only planned to stay one night. Those folks wanting to stay longer were out of luck at that hotel. It was a lovely room with a balcony overlooking the marina. We couldn’t have hoped to find anything better! We checked in and then set off for town to Tourist Office. We bought some pastries along the way for breakfast and took them to a park near the Old Fortress to eat. We located the Tourist Office and got the bus schedules. After walking around town we went back to hotel and changed into bathing suits. We then walked all the way to Mon Repos beach (quite a hike – but lovely view along the water). The boys enjoyed the water (too cold for me) and playing in the sand – There were also swing sets there. We then hoped to catch a bus back to town, but just missed it. So we walked all the way back to the hotel. We then had lunch and Daddy and the boys had rest time while I went out for groceries – and a watermelon. Later we took a bus to Kanoni and  took our watermelon and ate it overlooking Mouse Island. Kanoni is where the Hilton is located. Then we caught the bus back to Corfu – a nice ride along back roads. There is still a lot of undeveloped land there. We stopped along the way from the bus to the hotel to have dinner at a restaurant – spaghetti for the kids, macaroni moussaka for me – rolled stuffed beef for Sid. Then we went back to the hotel. Sid bought a glass of ouzo – a licorice-flavored drink typical of Greece.
Monday Aug 13
We got up early to catch the 7:00 AM boat to Patras – unfortunately, it was late – we left at 8:00 AM. Sid bought us fresh donuts while waiting at the dock. The boat trip on APPIA was glorious! There was a swimming pool – but when we got on there was no water in it and a net over it. Stephen was very disappointed as he had been looking forward to swimming in it. We located a corner partially sheltered on the deck and put out our sleeping bag. It was a beautiful day – no more rain. [It had cleared up mid-morning yesterday in Corfu – they said it was the first rain in 3 months there!] The scenery was beautiful – islands, mountains and gorgeous water. Then by lunch, they announced that they were filling the pool and it would be available until 5:00 for swimming. Stephen was so excited. We first went and ate lunch in the cafeteria on board – spaghetti for the boys, minestrone soup for me, pasta for Sid – The boys made quite a hit – everyone thought they were so cute. David even cleared his own tray off the table. The waiter was quite impressed. After lunch we went to the pool. The kids had a ball running around splashing water. Stephen swam and went down the slide into the pool. David stayed on the ledge where the water came up and ran and splashed. The action of the waves caused water to splash out of the pool onto the ledge – and David loved it. One time David lost his balance and fell into the pool and I had to reach in and fish him out [He needs swimming lessons when we get home] Later on we had a picnic supper before landing in Patras at 7:30PM We had bought bus tickets to get to Athens. The bus left shortly after docking and we arrived in Athens at 11:00PM. Sid had already made hotel reservations for us, so we only had to take a taxi from bus top to Hotel Carolina and we were shortly all settled down for a good night’s sleep.
Tuesday Aug 14

We headed first for the Tourist Office on Syndgna Square[A lovely area with fountain and many outside cafes and chairs]. We got information on bus schedules and events and then went to Olympics Airline Office, also on the square, to confirm reservations and find out way to get to airport. We also stopped at the Post Office to mail Stephen’s post cards. We took a bus from the square to Archaeologia Museum (Golden Mask of Agamemnon, Child Jockey, Posideon, many others). We then returned to the hotel for lunch. Sid and the boys rested while I went shopping. I mainly went to the Flea Market area and jewelry shops – it was a bit disappointing as prices which had been so cheap had skyrocketed – especially gold. All I came back with was a sack of delicious peaches! We then caught a bus to the Acropolis and climbed to the top of the Parthenon. At the bottom were the Herod Atticus Theater and the Theater of Dionysus. We had thought of going to a program in the evening at Herod Atticus, but nothing was scheduled for our first two nights and our last night was the Bolshoi Ballet of Icarus – we had just seen it in June in Paris at the Palais des Congres! We walked back to the Syndgna Square passing through Hadrian’s Arch and the Temple of Olympian Zeus. We had dinner off the square at Syntrevani – the boys and I had moussaka and Sid had dol ma (??) (rice and meat in vine leaves). It was delicious! The boys didn’t care for the moussaka – David ate the rice and meat in Sid’s vine leaves and Stephen ate the potato topping on his moussaka. Sid and I really loved ours. [They put us in a separate courtyard outdoors by ourselves – presumably so we wouldn’t bother the other customers, but we loved it] Also we stopped at a shop near the hotel selling all sorts of Greek pastries – lots of gooey honey things. We frequented these places during our stay in Athens. After dinner we took a taxi to the bottom of the Pynx hill and then walked to the Sound and Light show – it was a lovely cool  evening and the lighting on the ruins of the Acropolis was awesome except there was a vast number of people flashing pictures whenever the Parthenon was lit. It was very dark and we found it quite amusing that probably very few  photos would turn out! The program was over by 10:00 and we walked home.
Wednesday Aug 15

This morning we headed to the bus stop going to Cape Sounion and the Temple of Posideon. It was a lovely 1 ½ <hour> bus trip along the coast, passing many coves where people were swimming. The water was a lovely shade of blue. We climbed to the top of the hill with the Temple of Posideon and then climbed down the side of the hill to a beach Stephen located. The water was still cool to me, but the boys enjoyed playing in the water and building sand castles. There were even a few topless bathers there for Sid’s enjoyment! They were really tanned darkly. We then went back to the top of the hill to wait for the bus and ate our picnic lunch while waiting. We stopped in Vouliagmeni on the way back and went to a lovely beach with playground – lovely landscaping. It was rather late in the afternoon and it got very cloudy and cool so we left after a little swimming and playground time [much to the boy’s protests]. We stopped at a sandwich shop for dinner and then went back to the hotel to change for the evening. Tonight we walked back past the Acropolis to the folk dances at the foot of Philapappaos Hill. David especially enjoyed the shows – always clapping to the beat. Afterwards we walked back to the hotel stopping near Syndgna Square for ice cream.
Thursday Aug 16th
This morning we walked through the Flea Market area to the Agora and the Stoa of Attalos and Temple Thesion, stopping into a Byzantine church on the way. Afterwards we walked through the Plaka area to a lovely park and playground near Hadrian’s Arch and the Zappion. The boys enjoyed playing and we then went back to the hotel via the President’s Residence and Parliament. We ate lunch and napped and went back to the fountain on Syndgna Square. We ate dinner again at the sandwich shop, then walked to catch a bus for Daphni. At Daphni, there was a Greek wine festival with large kegs of various wines. We just bought a glass and then could sample all we wanted. [We didn’t have very much as the quality of wine was not very good to our taste – one specialty [retsina] contained resin – and sure enough, it tasted like pine sap!] There were also various pavilions with live music [and local men (not women) – not professionals – doing Greek line dancing] – a lovely setting amid the pine trees – very woodsy. David really enjoyed the dancing. We then caught the bus back to Athens and walked to the hotel.
Friday Aug 17

We checked out of the Carolina Hotel and caught city bus #1 at Syndgna Square to go to the airport. We got all checked in – there was a special 1st class check-in line for Olympic Airlines. We then went to the 1st class lounge to wait for boarding. It was a very nice lounge – had coke brought in – we ate up all the crackers, etc. Unfortunately we didn’t have very long to stay there – it was a great setup – when it came time to board, we were taken in a special little bus out to the plane – separate from Tourist Class passengers. The plane had no 1st class section [but since we had 1st class tickets Athens – Orlando] we were given special treatment at the airport. On the plane, however, we were just Tourist Class. The plane was late taking off and it was about ½ hour on board before takeoff – left 10:15. With the time change (2 hrs) we arrived in Vienna at 10:35am. We did have a very filling snack on the plane (rolls, meat slices – roast beef, turkey). Upon arrival we changed money and claimed baggage and boarded a bus taking us to city bus terminal near the Hilton. The weather was lovely in Vienna, much warmer than usual for them. We took a tram from the bus terminal to our hotel – Hostel Ruthensteiner where we had a triple room. After check-in we took trams back to Operapassage to the Information Center and then walked to the Hofburg. We went into the Church of the Augustenians – organ playing – with tombs of Maria Christine – favorite daughter of Maria Theresa – also had chapel with hearts of Hapsburgs. Then we visited the Stallburg (stables) of the Spanish Riding School where we saw the horses and then went to the gallery where performances take place (chandeliers and all!). No performances in August. Also the Chapel where the Vienna Boys Choir performs on Sunday was closed for August. We then walked into the rotunda off Michaeler Platz – lovely iron lattice work. We then walked down Kohlmarkt and the Graben (with Pest Monument) to St. Stephen’s Cathedral. We had a Sachertorte [An extremely rich Viennese classic made with layers (usually three) of chocolate cake filled with apricot jam and enrobed in a creamy-rich chocolate glaze. Sachertorte is traditionally served with billows of whipped cream. It was created in 1832 by Franz Sacher, of the famous family of Viennese hoteliers and restaurateurs.] and other pastry outside on Karntnerstrasse to the Ring and got hot dogs to eat. We then took the tram to Grinzig and then bus to Kahlenberg hills + Vienna Woods – a lovely drive – cool crisp air. Unfortunately, the weather was very hazy – so not much view. We took a little walk along path before taking bus back to Grinzig [Place of Heuriger – wine houses] and tram back to hotel.
Sat. Aug 18

We took tram to Belvedere (2 palaces connected by gardens and fountains – lovely). Then we took another tram to Schonbrunn Palace – we didn’t go in chateau (we’ve seen so many) – we walked uphill to the Gloriette from which there was a lovely lookout. We then went to train station to take 12:20 train to Melk. What a lovely ride – gorgeous scenery – lovely homes and gardens not too far out of Vienna. We arrived in Melk at 1:30 and walked through town (large monastery on hill) to the boat dock. Daddy bought the boys ice cream while waiting on the banks of the Danube for boat. We took the 3:10 boat down the Danube to Vienna – lovely Wachau vineyards along the way to Krems. Not as picturesque after Krems and a little long – 5 hours. We had to go through a lock on the way. We met a nice family whose older daughter went to Brigham Young Univ in Utah and was on semester aboard in Baden. Very lucky for us, as we had planned to go to Baden next day and she told us how to get there and where to go. After arriving back in Vienna at 8:30 pm we walked to the Prater – large amusement park. Stephen was so excited over all the rides and scary houses and all! There was supposedly the world’s largest Ferris Wheel – but it wasn’t going very fast – hardly at all – so we didn’t go on it. Stephen wanted to go on all the BIG rides – roller coasters, etc. – we talked him into the bumper cars. We also saw a nice fireworks display there. Daddy bought us ice cream + French fries and we took tram back to hotel.
Sunday Aug 19

We went to the train station to get more money and then to bus stop for bus to Baden – left 8:50 am. It was a 40 minute ride to Baden – arrived 9:30. We had ice cream cones and walked to Kurpark up into Woods – lovely greenery! There was an open-air concert at 10:30 in Kurpack – we stayed for a little of it – David enjoyed watching warm up. Mostly old people in the town of Baden (probably for the hot springs) We think a guard asked us kindly not to stay for the concert fearing children were disruptive. We then walked to Rosarium – lovely roses and small lake and playground – boys loved that and didn’t want to leave! We looked for a restaurant but found non suitable, so we took bus back to Vienna and stopped (as Stephen desired) at MacDonald’s for lunch! I waited there with the boys while Daddy went back to the hotel for suitcase and we then took the bus to airport. We went rather early as the weather had turned cool and cloudy and a little rainy and we had seen mostly all we had planned to see. We had been very fortunate to have had good weather on our trip. We checked into the airport and had hoped to head for 1st class lounge – but we found out there wasn’t one – (in process of making one) Too bad – we had to buy our own cokes in main lounge area. Stephen wrote post cards – David and Daddy went to upstairs waiting lounge – David napped. I went into the duty-free shop to spend remaining Austrian money – on candy. We went to departure gate 5:45 pm and were taken in special car to airplane – 1st class treatment – entered by front stairs – 6:15 flight – a little late, but we received such wonderful service it didn’t matter! Daddy and David in front row – Stephen and I behind them.  We all had a great flight – champagne, huge dinner – schnitzel, potatoes. David and Stephen ate a huge amount – all the cokes they wanted – coloring book and pencils – we spent the entire trip eating and drinking. Arrived about 9:15 (2 hr flight with another hour time difference) Took taxi home.
Monday August 20

Sid went back to work and caught up on the latest word – J.P. Fouchard (our renter) had been recalled to Paris and the software review was delayed until Thurs. Sid talked to John Beauregard in Orlando and got the further impression that we would be returning soon. David has apparently picked up pinworms.

David’s birthday – the boys and I went to the store to buy cake. While I was buying cake, David knocked over glass jar display breaking glass everywhere! After dinner we had our birthday party – just the four of us- David was so excited !!Stephen had bought him Lego set. We all had a great time and took pictures – the boys posed just great! David kept telling us it was “his turn” for birthday.
Tuesday Aug 21

Sid watched kids while Melinda went shopping. Weather is too cold to let kids go outside (50’s -  low 60’s, gray) Really rotten for August – the hottest month of the year.
Wednesday Aug 22

Sid got medicine for David (+ Stephen) for pinworms. Everyone got ready for big day Thursday.

Thursday Aug 23

Movers came at 11:00, not 8:30 as promised, but really worked fast. There were two guys and it only took them an hour (but Melinda had everything well organized for them). Sid stayed home to help with the kids and watch – it  took one of us to watch one of them all the time. Then Sid went into work and met with Orlando MMC people until 7:00 PM. Also discussed house arrangement with Archie Treadwell.

Friday August 24

Sid had more meetings (reviews, but the bottom line appears that we will all be able to leave next weekend). We were treated to a special TH-CSF lunch that lasted until 4:00 PM. Then more “work” meetings and (hopefully) a resolution on the house rental by Jean Pierre Fouchard. Again rain (on + off) and cold. Saw a mouse in the kitchen late at night.

Saturday August 25

Still cold + rainy. Saw the mouse again when Daddy tried to take Stephen and David up to the attic to play. (Just a little field mouse, but it caused a great deal of commotion and trauma). Complained about it to the concierge, who was not too impressed.

Sunday August 26

Skipped church today because of cold weather  + apartment clean-up activities. Weather cleared up long enough for a little time at the park before lunch and an outing to Champ de Mars after lunch, but overcast and rainy by the time we got back. Spent the evening playing cards and eating popcorn. With luck, this will be our last Sunday in Paris. A busy week lies ahead however.
Monday August 27 – Wednesday August 29

A busy time of cleaning up the apartment and getting organized to go home.

Thursday August 30

We moved out of the apartment after lunch and into the Sheraton.  Sid checked in in the morning and brought the luggage over). Melinda and the kids watched TV in the afternoon and David and Daddy went to MacDonald’s and brought back supper to the room.
Friday August 31

Sid went to the apartment to close with Madame Beau in the AM. Everything went smoothly. For supper Sid + Melinda went out to a restaurant with lots of atmosphere (Nos Ancestors, Les Gallois)

Saturday Sept. 1
Louis came and took us to the airport. We had a little delay at the passport control, but managed to catch our plane. At Amsterdam, we checked most of our luggage at the airport and took the KLM bus in to town. After checking in we

[The diary breaks off here. On the transatlantic flight home, we were the only people in 1st class – there were more attendants than passengers, so we got great treatment. The movie was ‘Superman’ and they showed it whenever the kids wanted. We had to detour around hurricane David (category 5) which was coming up the Florida East Coast. The flight ended at Tampa because Orlando was shut down, so Mimi and Poppi picked us up]

